FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/23/2020 1:41 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/23/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98120-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Case No. 52327-2-II

JAMES L. SELLERS, Guardian ad Litem of NATHAN TONEY, a minor

Appellant,

VS.

LONGVIEW ORTHOPEDIC ASSOCIATES, PLLC

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By MATTHEW J. ANDERSEN Attorney for Appellant

MATTHEW J. ANDERSEN WSBA #30052 WALSTEAD MERTSCHING PS Civic Center Building, Third Floor 1700 Hudson Street Post Office Box 1549 Longview, WA 98632 Telephone: (360) 423-5220

Fax: (360) 423-1478

Email: mjandersen@walstead.com

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should *Vanderstoep v. Guthrie*, 200 Wn.App. 507, 533-34, 402 P.3d 883 (2017), be applied to the attorney-client context, thereby requiring the set aside of default orders resulting solely from the inexcuseable neglect defense of counsel?
- 2. Regardless of the outcome of Issue 1, once the trial court determines that a default order resulted from the inexcusable neglect of counsel, does the court retain discretion to find "good cause" to set aside that order under CR 55(c)(1)?
- 3. Regardless of the outcome of Issues 1 and 2, does the trial court have discretion to set aside a default order that resulted from an attorney's willful failure to file her client's answer within 20 days as required by CR 12(a)?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Toney filed suit against Longview Orthopedic on December 14, 2017, and served the summons and complaint on December 21, 2017. (CP 1, 5) Longview Orthopedic forwarded the summons and complaint to its insurance company, Physician's Insurance, on December 27, 2017. That same day, Amy Forbis, with the firm Bennett Bigelow & Leedom, P.S., was retained by Physician's Insurance to defend Longview Orthopedic. (CP 26-27)

Ms. Forbis intentionally failed to file an answer on behalf of Longview Orthopedic within 20 days as required by CR 12(a)(1). She also failed to file a notice of appearance, which would <u>not</u> have cured her failure to file a timely answer. It would, however, have given her the right to notice of Toney's motion for default. This would have given her the opportunity to file a late answer prior to entry of the default order, saving her client from the consequences of her decision to ignore CR 12(a)(1).

On January 16, 2018, counsel for Toney properly obtained an order of default without notice to Longview Orthopedic. (CP 8-9)

Rhianna Fronapfel, an associate attorney working for Ms. Forbis at Bennett Bigelow & Leedom, P.S., began reviewing Toney's medical records on January 21, 2018, in anticipation of preparing an answer to Toney's complaint. Longview Orthopedic's answer was already eleven days past due at that time. When Ms. Fronapfel found no notice of appearance in her file,

she went online to check the electronic court file. She discovered the default order against Longview Orthopedic. The next day, on January 22, 2018, Ms. Forbis filed Longview Orthopedic's motion to set aside the default order.¹

In her January 22, 2018, declaration, Ms. Forbis blamed Longview Orthopedic's failure to timely appear or answer on a "clerical error" at her law office, but offered no explanation as to how that error occurred. (CP 27) Ms. Forbis also offered no explanation for why her firm waited until Longview Orthopedic's answer was eleven days late to even begin preparing her client's answer. Toney presented evidence from other cases indicating it was Ms. Forbis's practice to intentionally ignore the 20-day answer deadline imposed by CR 12(a)(1), opting instead to file a notice of appearance and wait for plaintiffs to file a motion for default. (CP 117-173)

On appeal, counsel for Longview Orthopedic also admitted that Bennett Bigelow & Leedom, P.S., attorneys and staff had failed to contact its client in the thirty-one days that followed service of process.²

CR 55(c)(1) provides that the court "may" set aside a default order for "good cause shown." The Division II Court of Appeals has defined "good cause" under CR 55(c)(1) as <u>both</u> "excusable neglect" before default and "due diligence" in seeking set aside after default. *Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn.App. 20,

¹ See CP 27 for all factual statements in this paragraph.

² Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review, page 15.

30, 971 P.2d 58 (1999).

At the trial court level, Longview Orthopedic never denied that its attorney's neglect in failing to appear or answer was inexcusable. Instead, counsel denied the importance of excusable neglect and attempted to recast her conduct as a "mistake" under CR 60(b). (CP 18-23, 53-65)

The court rejected this argument and applied *Estate of Stevens*, finding that excusable neglect and diligence were the standard. The court went on to find that Ms. Forbis's neglect was inexcusable.³

However, Ms. Forbis had also argued that since she was an "outside attorney," her client could not suffer a default order due to her conduct. It was her client's conduct, not her own, that the court needed to analyze. This argument was an extension of *Vanderstoep v. Guthrie*, wherein the Division II Court of Appeals set aside a default judgment that resulted from an insurance company's failure to retain legal counsel for its insured. Since her client did nothing to cause the default, so the argument goes, the default order must be set aside. The trial court accepted this argument and extended the *Vanderstoep* holding from the insurer-insured context to the attorney-client context and set aside the default order. (CP 193-94)

In making this ruling, the court noted with dismay the lack of guidance

³ RP, February 28, 2018, page 16, and CP 193-94.

from the Washington courts of appeal on the question of whether an order of default, when resulting solely from the inexcusable neglect of an attorney, must be set aside.⁴ As such, the trial court certified the following question for appellate review under RAP 2.3(b)(4):

The court hereby certifies under RAP 2.3(b)(4) that this order involves a controlling question of law as to which there is substantial ground for a difference of opinion and that immediate review of the order may materially advance the ultimate termination of this litigation, namely the extension of *Vanderstoep v. Guthrie*, 200 Wn.App. 507, 533-34, 402 P.3d 883 (2017) to cases where an innocent party suffers a default order due to the inexcusable neglect of that party's counsel. (CP 193-94)

On September 10, 2018, Commissioner Aurora R. Bearse granted Toney's *Motion for Discretionary Review*, stating:

This court agrees that the trial court properly certified its order setting aside the order of default for appellate review. Primarily, whether *Vanderstoep's* reasoning should apply to these facts, and if applied, whether Longview Orthopedic has a right to set aside the default order regardless of its attorney's inexcusable neglect is a controlling question of law on which there is substantial ground for a difference of opinion[.]⁵

Division II Court of Appeals ruled on December 24, 2019, and the court bypassed the issue of *Vanderstoep* entirely, stating:

The court in *Vanderstoep* held that when a defendant properly notifies its insurer that a complaint has been served and the insurer fails to arrange for a timely appearance or answer without a legitimate excuse, the insurer's inexcusable neglect should not be imputed to the blameless defendant. 200

⁴ RP, February 28, 2018, pages 11 and 16.

⁵ Ruling Granting Review, p.9, Appendix A-2

Wn.App. at 533-34. The focus must be on the defendant's conduct, not the insurer's conduct. See id. At 532-34.

Sellers argues that the trial court erred in setting aside the default order because defense counsel's inexcusable neglect necessarily precludes a finding of good cause under CR 55(c)(1). He claims that this court should not extend the holding in *Vanderstoep* that the inexcusable neglect of a defendant's insurer cannot be imputed to the defendant to the situation where a default order resulted from the inexcusable neglect of defense counsel rather than a defendant's insurer.

We need not decide whether the *Vanderstoep* holding applies here. Instead, we conclude that a finding of excusable neglect is not always required for a trial court to find good cause to set aside a default order and hold that the trial court here did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the default order here based on the specific facts of this case.⁶

Despite the fact that the trial court relied on *Vanderstoep* in reaching its discretionary decision, that it expressed concern regarding its reliance on *Vandersteop*, and that it specifically sought help from the higher court by certifying the issue for immediate review, the Court of Appeals refused to answer the legal question before it⁷ and *affirmed* the lower court ruling under

⁶ Published Opinion, *Sellers v. Longview Orthopedic Associates, PLLC*, p.7, Appendix A. ⁷ A trial court ruling under CR 55(c)(1) is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *Dix v. ICT Group, Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 826, 833, 161 P.3d 1016 (2013). However, a trial court necessarily abuses its discretion if its ruling is based on an erroneous view of the law or involves the application of an incorrect legal analysis. *Id.* at 833, 161 P.3d 1016. *See also Salas v. Hi–Tech Erectors*, 168 Wash.2d 664, 669, 230 P.3d 583 (2010); *Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993).

As such, the abuse of discretion standard gives deference to a trial court's fact-specific determinations, while permitting reversal where an incorrect legal standard is applied. *Dix.*, 161 Wn.2d at 833, 161 P.3d 1016. If a pure question of law is presented, a de novo standard of review should be applied. *Id.* at 833-34, 161 P.3d 1016.

the abuse of discretion standard. In doing so, the Court of Appeals not only left unanswered the question of whether *Vanderstoep* should be applied to attorneys, but also disrupted otherwise clear precedent that defined "good cause" under CR 55(c)(1) as both excuseable neglect and diligence.

D. ARGUMENT

I. The Supreme Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals, in refusing to rule on whether *Vanderstoep* applied in the attorney-client context, left unresolved a substantial issue of public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A trial court "may" set aside a default judgment for "good cause shown" under CR 55(c)(1). Washington courts have developed a robust common law regarding the definition of "good cause" under CR 55(c)(1). To show good cause, a defendant must show that its neglect was excusable before the entry of default and that it was diligent in seeking to set aside after. *Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn.App. 20, 30, 971 P.2d 58 (1999).

No amount of diligence after a default order is entered can erase the inexcusable neglect that caused the default in the first place. While the *Estate of Stevens* court referred to excusable neglect and diligence as "factors," both factors must be proven before the court can find "good cause" under CR 55(c)(1). In fact, the *Estate of Stevens* court refused to even analyze the question of diligence in the absence of excusable neglect:

The second factor considered under the "good cause"

standard requires a showing of due diligence in making an appearance after the court enters the order of default. Here, the trial court made no finding as to whether Curtis acted with due diligence because it already had determined that there was no excusable neglect. As there was no excusable neglect, we need not determine whether Curtis acted with due diligence. 94 Wn.App. at 35, 971 P.2d 58. (Emphasis added and internal citations omitted.)

The Division II Court of Appeals in *Brooks v. Univ. City, Inc.*, 154 Wn.App. 474, 476, 225 P.3d 489 (2010), stated "A default order may be set aside upon a showing of good cause, i.e., a showing of excusable neglect *and* due diligence." (emphasis added).

The same result occurred in *Prest v. American Bankers*, where the Division II Court of Appeals dismissed the defendant's diligence arguments out of hand: "The most that can be said is that Bankers acted with due diligence after it learned that the default judgment had been entered. That does not, however, provide it with a defense or excuse its neglect." 79 Wn.App. at 100, 900 P.2d 595 (1995).

Excusable neglect is not established when a party disregards process, whether willfully or due to inattention or carelessness. *Commercial Courier Serv. Inc.*, v. *Miller*, 13 Wn.App. 98, 106, 533 P.2d 852 (1975).

The declarations of Amy Forbis describe a breakdown of office procedure, and it has long been established that such breakdowns cannot be excusable neglect. In *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn.App. 191, 212-13, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007), the Court of Appeals summarized the law as follows:

Judicial decisions have repeatedly held that, if a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint was due to a break-down of internal office procedure, the failure was not excusable.

Citing Johnson v. Cash Store, 116 Wn.App. 833, 848, 68 P.3d 1099 (2003); Beckman v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 102 Wn.App 687, 11 P.3d 313 (2000)(neglect in failing to institute office management procedure to "catch" administrative errors was inexcusable); Prest v. Am. Bankers Life Assurance Co., 79 Wn.App. 93, 900 P.2d 595 (1995)(neglect inexcusable when summons and complaint were "mislaid" while general counsel was out of town).

In *TMT*, the defendant suffered a default because the legal assistant for its general counsel failed to enter the answer deadline into the calendaring system. The Court of Appeals found this neglect to be inexcusable. *Id.* at 213, 165 P.3d 1271.

This rule was reaffirmed in *Trinity Universal Insurance Company of Kansas v. Ohio Casualty Insurance Company*, 176 Wn.App. 185, 196 fn.6, 312 P.3d 976 (2013), where the Division I Court of Appeals summarily dispatched defendant's argument that a registered agent's failure to forward the complaint was "excusable neglect" without even mentioning the argument in the body of the opinion. At Footnote 6, the court wrote:

Even if we were to consider Ohio's claim of inadvertence or excusable neglect, we find it unavailing. * * * We have repeatedly held that when a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint was due to a breakdown of internal office procedure, it is not excusable under CR 60(b). (Internal citations omitted.)

The same result occurred in Prest v. Am. Bankers Life Assurance, Co.,

where the defendant suffered a default because general counsel was out of town and the legal assistant who was supposed to receive and calendar pleadings "mislaid" the summons and complaint. The Division II Court of Appeals found this neglect to be inexcusable. *Id.* at 100, 900 P.2d 595.

In the case at bar, the trial court correctly found that Ms. Forbis's neglect was inexcuseable and this finding was not appealed by defendant. This, under *Estate of Stevens*, *Brooks*, and *Prest* should have been the end of the court's inquiry and the motion to set aside should have been denied.

However, the trial court disregarded Ms. Forbis's inexcusable neglect by pivoting its analysis to the conduct of Longview Orthopedic, applying by analogy *Vanderstoep v. Guthrie.* In *Vanderstoep*, the defendant's insurance company failed to retain counsel for the defendant after the defendant forwarded the summons and complaint to the adjuster. The plaintiff obtained a default judgment, and the defendant brought a motion to vacate under CR 60(b). The insurance company offered no explanation for why defense counsel was never retained. The *Vanderstoep* court saw this as dispositive of the issue of excusable neglect, stating:

In the absence of any explanation, it appears that American Family's failure to arrange for an attorney to defend the Guthries resulted from a breakdown of its internal office procedures. The general rule is that "if a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint was due to a breakdown of internal office procedure, the failure was not excusable." TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v PETCO Animal Supplies, Inc., 140 Wn.App. 191, 212, 165 P.2d 1271 (2007). Therefore, American Family's failure to arrange for a timely appearance on behalf of the

Guthries did not result from mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect. *Vanderstoep*, 200 Wn.App. at 531-32, 402 P.3d 883 (emphasis added).

The *Vanderstoep* Court, however, pivoted the CR 60(b) analysis away from the conduct of the defendant's insurance company and to the conduct of the actual defendant. "The question here is which party's behavior controls: the Guthries' legitimate excuse for not appearing or American Family's inexcusable neglect." *Id.* at 532, 402 P.3d 883. The court ruled that the defendant's conduct, not that of its insurance company, controlled. The *Vanderstoep* court not only *reversed* the trial court, it found that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the default judgment.

Stated another way, the Court of Appeals in *Vanderstoep* found that the trial court abused its discretion in considering the conduct of the insurance company as opposed to the conduct of the named defendant. This ruling, applied by analogy to the case at bar, would hold that a trial court abused its discretion by considering the conduct of the attorney, as opposed to the conduct of the attorney's client, in considering "good cause" to set aside *an attorney-caused order of default*.

This absurd result actually finds support in the *dicta* of *Ha v. Signal Electric, Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 446, 332 P.3d 991 (2014). In *Ha*, the defendant had hired an attorney named "Tracy" to represent defendant in a Chapter 11 bankruptcy. The bankruptcy trustee had also hired a financial advisor named "Tieman." When Tracy was presented with a summons, complaint, and acceptance of service, he was not sure whether he had the

authority to sign the acceptance of service. Tracy discussed the matter with Tieman. They decided that Tracy would accept service and that Tieman would forward the summons and complaint to the defendant's insurance company. Tracy accepted service and Tieman sent the complaint to the wrong insurance company. Due to this mistake, no attorney was engaged to defend the defendant and a default resulted. The defendant moved to have the default set aside and the trial court granted the motion. The Division I Court of Appeals *affirmed*, finding that the failure to defend was the result of a "mistake." *Id.* at 450, 332 P.3d 991.

On appeal, the plaintiff argued that Tracy's failure to appear and defend was inexcusable neglect, citing the court to *TMT* and *Prest*. The Division I Court of Appeals distinguished *TMT* and *Prest* because the attorneys in those cases were employees of the defending party, whereas Tracy was not an employee of the defendant, stating:

Ha's case is readily distinguishable. As we determined above, Tracy is not Signal Electric's general counsel. Nor is he an office employee. Rather, he is an independent attorney retained for the Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding. The same is true of Tieman, who was retained solely as a financial advisor in the bankruptcy action. Their mistakes were not a breakdown of internal procedure, and so the rule of *TMT* does not apply. *Id.* at 451, 332 P.3d 991.8

⁸ The above quote is mere *dicta* because the *Ha* court, in the end, found that Tracy and Tieman's conduct was not neglectful in the first place, making the excusable versus inexcusable question moot. "These facts demonstrate that Signal Electric's failure to respond was not deliberate or even neglectful. Rather, it resulted from Tracy's genuine misunderstanding as to whether he should accept service and Tieman's mistake in forwarding the summons and complaint to the wrong insurance company." *Id.* at 450, 332

The combination of the reasoning of *Vanderstoep* and this *dicta* from *Ha* creates the untenable outcome that clients, as principals of their attorneys, are not responsible for the conduct of their attorneys. If default orders that result from attorney neglect can only be sustained when caused by the conduct of the client, then default orders based on attorney neglect can never be sustained. It is axiomatic that a lawyer's inexcusable neglect will always be the result of that lawyer's own conduct. Any attorney, no matter how neglectful, can have a default order set aside by simply stating the obvious—"This was all my fault, my client had nothing to do with it."

While Washington has a policy in favor of judgment on the merits, but it also has a policy in favor of the fair and orderly dispensation of justice. In *Norton v. Brown*, 99 Wn. App. 118, 123, 992 P.2d 1019 (1999), the Court of Appeals stated:

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