FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/6/2020 10:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98120-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES L. SELLERS, Guardian ad Litem of NATHAN TONEY, a minor,

Petitioner,

v.

LONGVIEW ORTHOPEDIC ASSOCIATES, PLLC,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S.

By: Rhianna M. Fronapfel WSBA No. 38636

601 Union Street, Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 622-5511 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals properly applied the abuse of discretion standard of review to the trial court's decision to vacate an order of default under CR 55(c)(1).

The Court of Appeals properly interpreted the plain language of CR 55(c)(1), which provides that "[f]or good cause shown and upon such terms as the court deems just, the court may set aside an entry of default." Sellers erroneously treats the trial court's decision that Longview established "good cause" to vacate the order of default as subject to de novo review by the appellate court. (Pet. 7-10) To the contrary, "'[t]he decision to vacate a default is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court judge, and we will not reverse that decision absent a showing that the trial judge abused her discretion." (Op. 5, quoting *Brooks v. Univ. City, Inc.,* 154 Wn. App. 474, 479, 255 P.3d 489, *rev. denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1004 (2010))

The Court of Appeals decision follows settled law. See, e.g., Brooks, 154 Wn. App. at 479, ¶ 13; Estate of Stevens, 94 Wn. App. 20, 30, 971 P.2d 58 (1999) (trial court's discretionary decision on a motion to vacate an order of default "is a decision upon which reasonable minds can sometimes differ") (quoted source omitted); Seek Systems, Inc. v. Lincoln Moving/Global Van Lines, Inc., 63 Wn. App. 266, 818 P.2d 618 (1991); Canam Hambro Sys., Inc. v. Horbach, 33 Wn. App. 452, 453, 655 P.2d 1182 (1982) ("decision to set aside an order of default is generally within the discretion of the trial court, subject to the good cause requirement of CR 55(c)").

Because "courts can reasonably reach different conclusions" under the abuse of discretion standard, Sellers erroneously relies on intermediate appellate court cases that *affirm* the trial court's exercise of discretion in deciding that the moving party failed to establish "good cause" under CR 55(c).¹ But the fact that an appellate court has affirmed a decision . . . does not, of course, necessarily mean that the trial court erred" in making a different decision. *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 353, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) (quoted case omitted). The Court of Appeals properly affirmed here because the trial court's unchallenged findings of fact provided a tenable basis for its discretionary, equitable determination of good cause. (Op. 10)

Where a trial court fairly exercises its direction based on articulated, indisputable facts, its decision must be affirmed unless "no reasonable judge would have ruled as the trial court did." *State* v. Arredondo, 188 Wn.2d 244, 256, ¶ 22, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (internal quotation omitted). This Court should deny review because the appellate court's affirmance of the trial court's discretionary decision based on the particular facts of this case does not conflict

¹ Estate of Stevens 94 Wn. App. at 34-35 (affirming refusal to vacate a default order because party waited three months after receiving notice of entry before moving to vacate the order); Seek Systems, 63 Wn. App. at 271 (affirming refusal to vacate default order when defendant "made one phone call, then did nothing else for 14 months"); Brooks, 154 Wn. App. at 479-80, ¶¶ 14-15 (affirming refusal to vacate default order because the defendant's own agent failed to forward the summons to counsel for two years); see Pet. 7-10.

with any of this Court's or Court of Appeals' decisions and presents no issue of substantial public concern.

2. The Court of Appeals properly refused to equate the "good cause" standard to vacate an interlocutory order of default under CR 55 with the more rigorous standard for vacating a final judgment under CR 60.

Sellers' contention that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the "good cause" standard of CR 55 relies exclusively on cases that instead address the standard for vacating a default judgment for "excusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1). Sellers then misapplies the very standard he erroneously advocates by focusing on the neglect of defense counsel and ignoring the finding that Longview itself was "blameless."

The Court of Appeals correctly held that "good cause" is a flexible concept that turns not on any single factor, but on the "particular facts of each case." (Op. 10) Its holding that the trial court in exercising its discretion may consider the defendant's conduct, its diligence, and the prejudice to the plaintiff (Op. 10) is consistent with Washington law, *Estate of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. at 30 (Pet. 7-8), as well as cases interpreting the parallel federal rule, which also establishes a "good cause" standard. Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(c). *See Matter of Dierschke*, 975 F.2d 181, 183 (5th Cir. 1992) (term

"good cause" in Rule 55(c) is a flexible concept that "is not susceptible to a precise definition"); Perez v. Wells Fargo N.A., 774 F.3d 1329, 1338 (11th Cir. 2014) ("[T]he 'good cause' standard applicable to setting aside a default [under Rule 55(c)]" differs from the "more rigorous, 'excusable neglect' standard." (quoted source omitted)); Dassault Systemes, SA v. Childress, 663 F.3d 832, 839 (6th Cir. 2011) ("[T]he standard [applying] to a motion to set aside a final default judgment under Rule 60(b) is more demanding than [the standard applying] to a motion to set aside an entry of default under Rule 55(c) . . . A *default* can be set aside under rule 55(c) for 'good cause shown,' but a default that has become final as a *judgement* can be set aside only under the stricter rule 60(b) standards for setting aside final, appealable orders." (quoted sourced omitted)); Central Ill. Carpenters Health and Welfare Trust Fund v. Con-Tech Carpentry, LLC, 806 F.3d 935, 937 (7th Cir. 2015) ("The requirements under that rule [Rule 60(b)] are steeper [than Rule 55(c)]" because "relief under Rule 60(b)(1) depends on excusable neglect."). The Court of Appeals thus correctly determined that even if defense counsel's "inexcusable" failure to timely answer is imputed to Longview, the trial court was well within its discretion to consider

other factors in balancing the equities and finding "good cause" to vacate the order of default. (Op. 10)

Sellers's contention that a trial court has no discretion to find "good cause" unless it makes a threshold finding of "excusable neglect" is unsupported by Washington law. Sellers relies on the statement in *Estate of Stevens* that "[t]o establish good cause under CR 55, a party may demonstrate excusable neglect and due diligence." 94 Wn. App. at 30 (emphasis added). (Pet. 7-8) Stevens, in turn, cites Judge Morgan's statement in Seek Systems, 63 Wn. App. at 271, that "two factors to be considered in each instance [under both CR 55(c)(1) and CR 60(b)(1)] are excusable neglect and due diligence overall." But neither Stevens nor Seek Systems hold that these are the *only* factors that may be considered, or that a trial court cannot as a matter of law find good cause unless it makes specific findings establishing both diligence and excusable neglect, to the exclusion of any other factors. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of CR 55 to allow the trial court to consider the lack of prejudice to the plaintiff, the circumstances that resulted in entry of the order of default, and to weigh the equities under the particular facts of the individual case, conflicts with neither these cases, nor any

other decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Recognizing that an interlocutory order of default lacks the finality of a final judgment, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Sellers' insistence that a party seeking to vacate a default order must establish "excusable neglect" as a threshold condition to relief, as required by the specific language of CR 60(b)(1). (Op. 7-9) While CR 60(b) has specific criteria for vacating a final judgment of default, the first of which requires the moving party to establish "inexcusable neglect," CR 55(c)(1) adopts the more flexible "good cause" requirement. As this Court has recognized, "CR 55(c)(1) sets forth a rather lenient rule for setting aside defaults." Lenzi v. Redland Ins. Co., 140 Wn.2d 267, 278 n.8, 996 P.2d 603 (2000). Sound policy supports that "rather lenient" standard. Because our courts favor resolution of disputes on the merits, the "good cause" required to vacate an order of default under CR 55(c)(1) is less onerous than that required to vacate a judgment under the criteria of CR 60(b). Canam Hambro Sys., 33 Wn. App. at 453; Estate of Stevens, 94 Wn. App. at 30.

CR 60 applies to final judgments that terminate the litigation. "A judgment is the final determination of the rights of the parties in the action . . ." CR 54(a). A judgment becomes res judicata, foreclosing any claims that were, or could have been, asserted in the action. *See*, *e.g.*, *Lenzi*, 140 Wn.2d at 280. The law accords a default judgment all the attributes of a final judgment entered following a trial. *Graham v. Yakima Stock Brokers*, *Inc.*, 192 Wash. 121, 125, 72 P.2d 1041 (1937) (quoted source omitted). That is why a party seeking to vacate a default judgment on the basis of "mistake, inadvertence or excusable neglect" must meet the specific standards of CR 60(b)(1) *and* establish a bona fide defense. *See*, *e.g.*, *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 352, 438 P.2d 581 (1968).

By contrast, an order of default is an interlocutory order. *See Graham v. Yakima Stock Brokers, Inc.*, 190 Wash. 269, 270-71, 67 P.2d 899 (1937) (distinguishing between final judgments and interlocutory orders of default).² Entry of default for failure to appear and defend may establish the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint, but does not, by itself, terminate the case. CR 55(b). In this case, for instance, Sellers still had to establish his damages before the trial court could have entered a final judgment. "The goal

² For instance, unlike an order vacating a judgment, an order vacating a default order is not an appealable order. RAP 2.2(a)(10). As Sellers had not obtained a default judgment, discretionary review of the trial court's order vacating the default order in the Court of Appeals was on the trial court's certification of its order under RAP 2.3(b)(4).

of finality is not relevant to a motion for relief from a default entry, which is another reason for the greater discretion and leniency shown with respect to setting them aside." Wright & Miller, 10A *Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ.* § 2693 (4th ed. 2018).

Sellers' petition fails to acknowledge this significant distinction, both in language and policy, between vacating an order of default under CR 55(c) and vacating a final default judgment under CR 60(b). That distinction, however, was not lost on the Court of Appeals, which carefully distinguished between cases addressing the flexible standard for CR 55(c)(1) and those relied upon by Sellers addressing the more rigorous criteria of CR 60(b). (Op. 7-9)

For instance, in *Prest v. Am. Bankers Life Assur. Co.*, 79 Wn. App. 93, 100, 900 P.2d 595 (1995), *rev. denied*, 129 Wn.2d 1007 (1996) (Pet. 8), Division Two affirmed as within the trial court's discretion its refusal to vacate a default judgment for "inexcusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1) where the defendant insurance company, whose business was "to respond to legal process that is served upon it," inexcusably failed to answer. In *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr.*, *Inc. v. PETCO Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 200, ¶¶ 19-20, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007) (Pet. 8-9), Division One affirmed the denial of CR 60(b)(1) relief to a corporate tenant who had no excuse for its failure to forward the complaint to counsel following service. See also Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 185, 195, ¶ 15, 312 P.3d 976 (2013) (affirming refusal to vacate judgment under CR 60(b)(1) for excusable neglect more than one year after judgment was entered), *rev. denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1010 (2014) (Pet. 10). None of these cases involve or even mention the "good cause" standard of CR 55(c)(1).

Sellers's misguided reliance on the standard for "excusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1) is also manifest in his discussion of *VanderStoep v. Guthrie*, 200 Wn. App. 507, 533-34, ¶ 79, 402 P.3d 883 (2017), *rev denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1041 (2018) (Pet. 10-11). *Vanderstoep* reversed the denial of relief under CR 60(b)(1) because the inexcusable neglect of a liability insurer in failing to arrange for counsel to appear and answer should not have been imputed to an innocent defendant. The Court of Appeals correctly held here that *Vanderstoep* was not controlling (Op. 7), but it is certainly compelling justification for the relief granted below. Sellers asks this Court to accept review to reverse not just the decision in this case, but also the result in *Vanderstoep* and other default judgment cases, such as *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 332 P.3d 991 (2014), *rev. denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1006 (2015), that have consistently held that an attorney's negligent failure to timely appear and answer does not prevent an innocent client from establishing excusable neglect to vacate a judgment under the more onerous standard of CR 60(b)(1).

Vanderstoep and *Ha* both held that a court's focus in evaluating "excusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1) should be on the conduct of the party seeking to vacate a default judgment, rather than on the conduct of the party's representatives. Those cases support the trial court's decision here in light of the more "lenient rule for setting aside defaults" under CR 55(c)(1). *Lenzi*, 140 Wn.2d at 278 n.8. The Court of Appeals decision is thus consistent with a long line of cases holding that the policy of resolving disputes on the merits favors vacating even a default judgment where the neglect in failing to timely answer is that of counsel, not the client.³

³ The federal courts routinely vacate orders of default entered due to the neglect of an attorney if other equitable factors support a finding of "good cause." *See, e.g., Colleton Preparatory Academy, Inc. v. Hoover Universal, Inc.*, 616 F.3d 413, 420 (4th Cir. 2010) (district court "relied too heavily" on fault of defendant's registered agent; reversing refusal to vacate default "in light of overwhelming evidence supporting 'good cause'" under FRCP 55(c)); *Lolatchy v. Arthur Murray, Inc.*, 816 F.2d 951, 953 (4th Cir. 1987) (reversing refusal to vacate default where "the defendants are blameless. There has been no prejudice to the plaintiff. Any dilatory action was on the part of the attorney, not the defendants."); *Leshore v. County of Worcester*, 945 F.2d 471, 473 (1st Cir. 1991) (district court order vacating default where attorney failed to respond "is not the kind of judgment call an appellate court should normally second-guess").

This Court long ago held that the trial court's focus under CR 60(b)(1) must be on the conduct of the party, not that of its representative, in the seminal case of *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968). In *White*, as in *Vanderhoef*, the trial courts abused their discretion in refusing to vacate a default judgment by imputing a liability insurer's "inexcusable" neglect to the defendants. As the defendants themselves were "blameless," the "circumstances do not warrant an imputation of any such fault to defendants." 73 Wn.2d at 354.4

The Court of Appeals here properly applied the "good cause" standard of CR 55(c)(1) rather than the "excusable neglect" standard of CR 60(b)(1). If the "Court of Appeals passed on the opportunity to clarify... *Vanderstoep* and *Ha*" (Pet. 15), it is for the simple reason that those cases were decided under a different rule than the one at issue in the instant case. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent

⁴ Accord Gutz v. Johnson, 128 Wn. App. 901, 919, ¶¶ 56-57, 117 P.3d 390 (2005) (reversing trial court's refusal to vacate default judgment where defendant had "promptly left a message" with the insurer and his failure to confirm receipt of the message "is not an equitable and just reason to deny him the opportunity for a trial on the merits"), *aff'd*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 161 P.3d 956 (2007); *Norton v. Brown*, 99 Wn. App. 118, 125, 992 P.2d 1019 (1999) (reversing trial court's refusal to vacate default judgment; the trial court "focused more on the insurance company's failure to contact [the defendant] than it did on any excusable neglect on [defendant]'s part"), *opinion amended by* 3 P.3d 207, *rev. denied*, 142 Wn.2d 1004 (2000).

with Washington law interpreting CR 55(c)(1), consistent with case law interpreting the more rigorous standard of "excusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1) and provides no grounds for further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

3. The application of CR 55's "good cause" standard to specific facts based on the trial court's determination of what is just and equitable presents no issue of substantial public interest.

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